2009

Judy Price v. Smith's Food and Drug Centers, Inc..  
PYGGY, Inc., Market Source West, and John Does  
I-V : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISTITION**

On April 13, 2009, the Fourth District Court issued a Decision granting defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment. R. 538. Plaintiff filed a timely Notice of Appeal from the judgment on May 4, 2009. R. 582-84. This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Rule 3 of the Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure.

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

**I. Whether the trial court erred in granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment based on a determination that Plaintiff, who was injured when she slipped and fell on a puddle of water, presented insufficient evidence of the length of time the puddle was on the floor to show constructive notice.**

**A. Standard of Review:** This is an appeal from Summary Judgment, which presents a question of law to the appellate court; the standard of review is one of correctness, and the court views "the facts and all reasonable inferences drawn therefrom in the light most favorable to the [appellant]." *Matheson v. Marbec Investments, LLC*, 173 P.3d 199, 201 (Ut. C. A. 2007) (quoting *Dowling v. Bullen*, 94 P.3d 915, 917 (Utah 2004)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

**B. Preservation of Issue:** Plaintiff filed a timely Notice of Appeal (R. 584), which preserved this error for appeal. Rule 3, *Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure*. This issue was raised in Defendant's motion for summary judgment, Plaintiff's response to



Defendant's motion for summary judgment, and Plaintiff's Motion to Reconsider. R. 249, 391, & 565.

**II. Whether the trial court erred in granting Defendant's Motion for Summary Judgment when it concluded that a store-owner could not be vicariously liable for the tortious acts of an independent contractor to whom it delegated the activity of cleaning the floor.**

**A. Standard of Review:** This is an appeal from summary judgment, so the standard of review is one of correctness. The court views facts and reasonable inferences in the light most favorable to the appellant. *Matheson v. Marbec Investments, LLC*, 173 P.3d 199, 201 (Utah Ct. App 2007) (quoting *Dowling v. Bullen*, 94 P.3d 915, 917 (Utah 2004)) (internal quotation marks omitted).

**B. Preservation of Issue:** Plaintiff filed a timely Notice of Appeal. R. 584. Rule 3, *Utah Rules of Appellate Procedure*. Mrs. Price raised this issue in response to Smith's Motion for Summary Judgment which preserved this issue for appeal. R. 293.

### **APPLICABLE CONSTITUTIONAL AND STATUTORY PROVISIONS**

There are no applicable constitutional or statutory provisions in this case.

### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This case stems from a slip-and-fall that happened in a Smith's Food and Drug Centers, Inc., supermarket (hereinafter "Smith's"). Plaintiff/Appellant, Judy Price, slipped and fell on a puddle of water and suffered injuries; including a broken arm and a

hip injury that requires surgery. Mrs. Price brought several causes of action against Smith's but appeals only in regard to two of those causes: first, that the store was negligent when it failed to inspect an area of the store where it had allowed an independent contractor to work for the day; and second, that the store should be vicariously liable for the negligence of the independent contractor for causing the hazardous puddle. The Fourth District Court for the State of Utah granted Smith's Motion for Summary Judgment on both counts mentioned above concluding as a matter of law that, under either theory of liability, Mrs. Price would be unable to recover.

The issues before this court are, first, whether Mrs. Price presented sufficient evidence of the length of time the water was on the floor to establish constructive notice; and second, whether the store can be vicariously liable for the negligence of an in-store food demonstrator (independent contractor) for harm to Mrs. Price caused by the demonstrator's failure to clean up the floor after the demonstration.

### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

On April 2, 2005, Steven Tyler, an employee of a food demonstrator Pyggy, Inc., d.b.a. Market Source West., (hereinafter "Pyggy") spent the day handing out meat and cheese to customers in Smith's American Fork store. R. 248. Pyggy brought its own demonstration equipment and table, but purchased the food samples from Smith's. R. 247.

According to Mr. Tyler of Pyggy, he took down his demonstration table at 4:40 in the afternoon, counted the remaining meat and cheese products, paid for the product provided by Smith's, and left the store by 5:00 pm. R. 177.

Smith's had a policy that prior to demonstrators like Pyggy leaving the store that the demonstrator needed to check out with Smith's employees. R. 278.

Smith's does not have a safety policy in place for checking or cleaning a demonstration area after an in-store demonstration. R. 281. Smith's has a general policy of checking the floor once an hour. R. 248.

Ms. Price did not dispute allegations by Smith's that they conducted numerous regular inspections of the entire store at or around the time of her fall. R. 301.

However, no Smith's employee checked or inspected the area of the food demonstration immediately after Pyggy left to make sure it was clean or free of debris. R. 280, 295, 299, 359.

Shortly after 5:00 pm, Plaintiff Judy Price went to Smith's with her granddaughter to buy strawberries. R. 250, 303. As she was leaving the produce section of the store with her strawberries, Ms. Price fell on a puddle of water, breaking her arm and injuring her hip. R. 298-99. Ms. Price thinks the accident happened after 5:00 pm, around 5:20. R. 303.

No one knows for sure how the water got onto the floor, or exactly how long it had been there. Although Mr. Tyler is adamant that he did not have water at his demonstration table (R. 365-66), Chuck Brown, the store manager for Smith's at the time of the incident, testified that he was sure the water came from the demonstration table. R.

298. Mr. Brown concluded this because Ms. Price fell at the site of the demonstration table, and because he noticed a cup of water on the demonstration table when he went to talk to Mr. Tyler earlier in the day. R. 298. Mr. Brown stated he was almost 100% sure the water came from Mr. Tyler's table. R. 298. There is no other evidence suggesting any other source of the spilled water. R. 298, 426-27.

Mr. Brown also testified that he thought the water was on the floor for maybe 10 minutes. R. 301, 278.

Mr. Brown testified that the water was cleaned up easily with a paper towel. R. 278-279.<sup>1</sup>

After the incident in which Ms. Price slipped and fell on the puddle of water, Pyggy went out of business and was found not to have insurance. Transcript of Oral Arguments at 25.

Mrs. Price's supermarket safety expert, Kent Steele, opined that demonstration areas are typical areas to anticipate spillage. R. 254. Mr. Steele also opined that Smith's conduct fell below the standard of care because Smith's failed to verify that Pyggy left the demonstration area clean and spill free when Pyggy checked out. R. 252.

---

<sup>1</sup> Page 45 of Alan Brown's deposition was attached to Mrs. Price's Memorandum in Opposition to Defendant's Motion for summary Judgment but was not numbered as part of the paginated record. However, that page of Mr. Brown's deposition fell between pages 279 and 279 of the paginated record.

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

### **Ordinary Negligence.**

The court below dismissed Mrs. Price's claim of ordinary negligence, finding that she produced insufficient evidence of the amount of time the puddle was on the floor. Mrs. Price challenges that decision.

Storeowners are required to keep their premises reasonably safe by exercising reasonable care. A store can be liable for negligence if it had actual or constructive notice of a dangerous condition and failed to remedy it. Constructive notice can be imputed to a store if it would have had actual notice had it exercised reasonable care. In determining whether a defendant had constructive notice of a dangerous condition, evidence of the time the condition existed is relevant. Nevertheless, there is no formulaic way to determine what length of time constitutes an abuse of reasonable care. Evidence of the condition of the dangerous condition as well as circumstances giving rise to inferences of negligence are also relevant. Therefore, constructive notice can be affected by the circumstances surrounding and reasonable inferences drawn from a slip and fall.

Nevertheless, not only did Mrs. Price submit evidence of the length of time the puddle of water was on the floor, but she provided evidence that the length of time was insignificant to establish constructive notice and a lack of reasonable care. Mrs. Price's supermarket safety expert, Kent Steele, testified that Smith's conduct fell below the

standard of care when it failed to verify that the demonstrator left the demonstration area clean and spill free when the vendor checked out (i.e., a couple minutes or even seconds after the vendor checked out would have been too long for the store not to inspect the demonstration area). Therefore, there are material questions of fact for a jury and summary judgment was improper. This case should be remanded to the trial court for further proceedings.

#### Vicarious Liability.

Although Utah law has long accepted the general rule that the employer of an independent contractor is not generally liable for the tortious act of the contractor, the duty of a store to keep its premises reasonably safe is non-delegable. The fact that the duty of reasonable care is non-delegable does not change the duty in Utah in any way; it merely means that a store cannot avoid liability for dangerous conditions by delegating store maintenance to independent contractors.

Smith's delegated the maintenance activity of cleaning the floor at the food demonstration site to an independent contractor. There is evidence that the independent contractor was negligent in carrying out the cleaning duty delegated to it. Because Smith's delegated a store maintenance activity to an independent contractor who was negligent in carrying out that duty, it can be vicariously liable for the injuries caused by the independent contractor. Because there is evidence that Plaintiff was injured by the negligent acts of the independent contractor to whom Smith's had delegated store maintenance, summary judgment was improper, and the case should be remanded for further proceedings.

## ARGUMENT

### **I. Mrs. Price produced evidence of the length of time the water had been on the floor prior to her fall and for that reason the trial court improperly granted Smith's Motion for Summary Judgment.**

The trial court ignored evidence of the time the water spill was on the floor.

The job of the court ruling on summary judgment is not to weigh evidence but to determine if there are material questions of fact that preclude one party from prevailing as a matter of law. According to the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment "is proper only when there are no genuine issues of material fact and the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law." Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). *See also Silcox v. Skaggs*, 814 P.2d 623, 623 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) ("[I]ssues become questions of law only when the facts are undisputed and only one conclusion can be drawn from them.") (citation omitted).

Therefore, in determining whether summary judgment should be granted, the court need only determine whether material issues of fact exist that preclude judgment as a matter of law, not whether certain evidence is weightier than other evidence. *Draper City v. Estate of Fannie Bernardo*, 888 P.2d 1097, 1100 (Utah 1995). The appellate court must evaluate whether, based upon the facts and inferences asserted by the appellant, there is any law that would entitle her to prevail, in which case summary judgment is improper. *Draper City v. Estate of Fannie Bernardo*, 888 P.2d 1097, 1101 (Utah 1995).

Because negligence cases, such as this one, are heavily fact and inference dependent, summary judgment is appropriate in limited circumstances. This Court has explained that because “negligence cases often require the drawing of inferences from facts, which is properly done by juries rather than judges, summary judgment is appropriate in negligence cases only in the clearest instances.” *Matheson v. Marbec Investments, LLC*, 173 P.3d 199, 201 (Utah Ct. App. 2007) (citations and internal quotation marks omitted). The appellant is entitled to “all reasonable inferences in determining whether there is a material issue of fact which precludes summary judgment.” *Silcox v. Skaggs*, 814 P.2d 623, 625 (Utah Ct. App. 1991) (citation omitted).

Store owners are required to keep their premises reasonably safe by exercising reasonable care. It is a well-established principle of Utah premises law that a property owner is not an insurer of the safety of his premises, even for business invitees. *Martin v. Safeway*, 565 P.2d 1139, 1140 (Utah 1977). Instead, a property-owner is required to use reasonable care to maintain his store in a reasonably safe condition. *Jex v. JRA, Inc.*, 166 P.3d 655 (Utah Ct. App. 2007), *aff’d*, 196 P.3d 576 (Utah 2008).

In explaining the two-part, notice/remedy test of slip-and-fall negligence, the *Allen* court said,

[F]ault cannot be imputed to the defendant so that liability results therefrom unless two conditions are met: (A) that he had knowledge of the condition, that is, either actual knowledge, or constructive knowledge because the condition had existed long enough that he should have discovered it; and (B) that after such knowledge,



sufficient time elapsed that in the exercise of reasonable care he should have remedied it.

*Allen v. Federated Dairy Farms, Inc.*, 538 P.2d 175, 176 (Utah 1975).

Here, since it is undisputed that Smith's did not create the water spill in the present matter, nor did it have actual notice of the water spill (R. 245), this brief discusses constructive notice as the basis of Smith's liability for ordinary negligence.

The Utah Supreme Court recognizes that even where there are only tenuous facts about the length of time the dangerous condition existed, the plaintiff can still meet her burden. *Ohlson v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 568 P.2d 753 (Utah 1977) (where the court affirmed the trial court's determination that the jury could find constructive notice—evidence of the amount of time the dangerous condition existed—where the only evidence of the time the dangerous condition existed was the condition of the broken spaghetti on the floor).

In holding that Plaintiff's negligence claim (based on constructive notice) should fail, the trial court emphasized the importance of the time factor in determining whether constructive notice can be imputed to Smith's. R. 534. The trial court quoted the Utah Supreme Court's decision in *Jex v. JRA, Inc.*, 196 P.3d 576, 581 (Utah 2008):

To establish that a temporary condition existed long enough to give a store owner constructive notice of it, a plaintiff must present evidence that it had been there for an appreciable time. We have therefore imputed constructive notice to a store owner only when there is some evidence of the length of time the debris had been on the floor.

The trial court decided that Plaintiff's negligence claim failed because "Plaintiff has shown no evidence of the length of time the puddle was on the floor." R. 533. However, the lower court disregarded Mrs. Price's evidence of the length of time the puddle was on the floor.

Mr. Tyler took his table down at 4:40 in the afternoon, and had left Smith's by 5:00 pm. R. 177. Mrs. Price testified that she fell between 5:00 and 5:20 in the afternoon. R. 224. Therefore, there is a 40 minute window in which water could have been on floor.

Mrs. Price also presented evidence of the length of time the water was on the floor in the form of testimony from Smith's store manager, Mr. Brown.

Mr. Brown based his conclusion on the fact that Mr. Tyler did not take his table down until 5:00. He testified he thought the water would have been on the floor for 10 minutes:

It couldn't have been too long. Because [Mr. Tyler] left at 5:00 or right before that, a few minutes. He was scheduled until 5:00. He cleaned up probably right about that time. So between that time and then when Judy fell, it was probably a short interval . . . **maybe ten minutes**, maybe tops, if that.

R. 278.

Because Plaintiff presented evidence of the length of time the water was on the floor summary judgment was improper and this court should reverse the finding of the trial court.

**II. Smith’s duty to keep the store in a reasonably safe condition is nondelegable, and therefore Smith’s can be liable for the negligence of the independent contractor to whom it delegated the duty to clean its floor.**

Utah law has long accepted the general rule that the employer of an independent contractor is not generally liable for the tortious acts of the contractor. *Gleason v. Salt Lake City*, 74 P.2d 1225, 1232 (Utah 1937). Nevertheless, there is an exception to this general rule when an injury is caused “by the nonperformance of an **absolute duty** owed by the employer [of the independent contractor] to the complainant.” *Id.* (internal quotation marks and citation omitted).<sup>2</sup> The duty of a store to keep its premises reasonably safe is a therefore a “nondelegable” duty.

Although Utah cases explaining this principle are rare, it is well settled in American jurisprudence that a store can be vicariously liable for the tortious acts of an independent contractor when the safety of a store is at issue. William L. Prosser explains, in his *Handbook of Law of Torts* §61 (4th ed. 1971), “It is generally agreed that the obligation as to the condition of the premises is of such importance that it cannot be delegated, and that the occupier will be liable for the negligence of an independent contractor to whom he entrusts maintenance and repair.” *Id.* at 395. Indeed, a storeowner cannot discharge responsibility for his duty to maintain his store in a reasonably safe condition by delegating the care of the premises to an independent

---

<sup>2</sup> Although the court in *Gleason* used the term “absolute duty,” Utah courts in other decisions have used the term “nondelegable duty.” See e.g. *Sullivan v. Utah Gas Service Co.*, 353 P.2d 465, 466 (Utah 1960); *Hogge v. Salt Lake & O. Ry. Co.*, 135 P. 585, 589 (Utah 1915); *Rose v. Provo City*, 67 P.3d 1017, 1022 (Utah Ct. App. 2003).

contractor. *Lilienthal v. Hastings Clothing Co.*, 280 P.2d 824, 828 (Cal. App. 1955); *see also Gill v. Krassner*, 77A.2d 462, 464 (N.J. Super. Ct. App. Div. 1950; Thomas E. Miller, Annotation, *Storekeeper's Liability for Personal Injury to Customer Caused by Independent Contractor's Negligence in Performing Alterations or Repair Work*, 96 A.L.R.3d 1213, 1223-25 (1979) (discussion about liability based on vicarious liability and nondelegable duty). Therefore, a storeowner can exercise reasonable care and still be vicariously liable for negligent acts of an independent contractor.

Having a nondelegable duty to keep a store reasonably safe is not the same as being an insurer of the safety of property. It is a well established principle of Utah premises law that a property owner is not an insurer of the safety of his premises, even for business invitees. *Martin v. Safeway*, 565 P.2d 1139, 1140 (Utah 1977). Instead, a property-owner is required to use reasonable care to maintain his store in a reasonably safe condition. *Jex v. JRA, Inc.*, 166 P.3d 655 (Utah Ct. App. 2007), *aff'd*, 196 P.3d 576 (Utah 2008). The fact that the duty of reasonable care is nondelegable does not change the duty in any way. It merely means that a store cannot avoid liability for dangerous conditions by delegating store maintenance to independent contractors. *See Gill*, 77A.2d at 464.

A store is liable for the tortious acts of an independent contractor when it delegates maintenance and repair activities to the contractor. *See Prosser* at 395. There are many cases in which storeowners were held liable for the negligent *repair* activities of independent contractors. *See e.g. Goodman v. Sears Roebuck Co.*, 129 A.2d 405 (D.C. 1957) (plaintiff fell on temporary covered); *Daly v. Bergstedt*, 126 N.W.2d 242 (Minn.

1964) (plaintiff tripped on masonite molding); *Lipman Wolfe & Co. v. Teeples & Thatcher, Inc.*, 522 P.2d 467 (Oregon 1974) (plaintiff fell on slippery tile-laying substance); *Bryant v. Sherm's Thunderbird Market*, 522 P.2d 1383 (Oregon 1974) (plaintiff fell in uncovered ditch in supermarket aisle); *see also* 96 A.L.R.3d 1223-25.

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