2009

Judy Price v. Smith's Food and Drug Centers, Inc., PYGGY Inc., Market Source West, and John Does I-V : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

I. The law in Utah pertaining to slip and fall cases involving an unsafe condition of a temporary nature that was neither created by the storeowner nor known to be in existence by the storeowner requires that the plaintiff show that the storeowner had constructive knowledge of the unsafe temporary condition because the condition had existed long enough that the storeowner should have discovered it. Price was unable to show that Smith's had constructive knowledge of the water spill that led to Price's incident because there is no evidence as to how long the water spill was on the floor prior

to Price's incident. Consequentially, the trial court correctly granted Smith's Motion for Summary Judgment.

II. The law in Utah makes it clear that the trier of fact cannot be permitted to speculate that a defendant is negligent. The trial court correctly granted Smith's Motion for Summary Judgment because there is no evidence that Smith's was negligent. With absolutely no evidence, Price relies exclusively on speculation and conjecture regarding the origin of the water spill on which Price slipped and fell as well as how long the water spill was present on the floor prior to her incident.

III. The trial court was correct in granting Smith's Motion for Summary Judgment because there is no evidence that Smith's ever delegated its duty to maintain its store in a reasonably safe condition to a third-party demonstrator from Market Source who was demonstrating deli meats and cheeses on the day of the incident. There is also no evidence that Market Source was an independent contractor retained by Smith's to maintain or repair Smith's premises. Finally, there is no evidence that the demonstrator was the origin of the water spill.

IV. Smith's satisfied its duty to maintain its store in a reasonably safe condition on the day of the incident. Smith's did not create the water spill on which Plaintiff slipped and fell at approximately 5:00 p.m. and was not on notice of the spill's presence prior to the incident. Furthermore, Smith's performed eight formal floor inspections from 4:24 p.m. to 4:58 p.m. and four additional formal floor inspections in the five o'clock

hour. With no evidence that Smith's failed to meet its duty to maintain its store in a reasonably safe condition on the day of the incident, the trial court was correct in granting Smith's Motion for Summary Judgment.

ARGUMENT

I.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED APPELLEE SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE THERE IS NO EVIDENCE OF HOW LONG THE TEMPORARY HAZARD WAS IN EXISTENCE PRIOR TO THE INCIDENT.

The Utah Supreme Court has held: "A major purpose of summary judgment is to avoid unnecessary trial by allowing the parties to pierce the pleadings to determine whether there is a genuine issue to present to the fact finder." *Reagan Outdoor Advertising v. Lundgren*, 692 P.2d 776, 779 (Utah 1984). Similarly, the United States Supreme Court held in *Celotex Corp. v. Catrett*, 477 U.S. 317, 323-324 (1986): "Summary judgment procedure is properly regarded not as a disfavored procedural shortcut, but rather as an integral part of the Federal Rules as a whole, that are designed to 'secure the just, speedy and inexpensive determination of every action.'" *Id.* at 327; *Wycalis v. Guardian Title of Utah*, 780 P.2d 821, 824 (Utah Ct. App. 1989) ("Summary disposition of lawsuits is a valuable and necessary tool in a judicial system such as ours, which strives for the efficient and timely resolution of legal disputes.").

Under Rule 56 of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, summary judgment is appropriate when the pleadings, affidavits, depositions, and admissions establish that

there is no genuine issue regarding any material fact and the moving party is entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law. Subsection (e) of Rule 56 further provides:

an adverse party may not rest upon the mere allegations or denials of his pleading, but his response, by affidavits or as otherwise provided in this rule, must set forth specific facts showing that there is a genuine issue for trial. If he does not so respond, summary judgment, if appropriate, shall be entered against him.

UTAH. R. CIV. P. 56(e).

The United States Supreme Court has clarified this provision with respect to Rule 56 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure, which is identical to the Utah rule.

If the defendant in a run-of-the-mill civil case moves for summary judgment . . . based on the lack of proof of a material fact, the judge must ask himself not whether he thinks the evidence unmistakably favors one side or the other, but whether a fair-minded jury could return a verdict for the plaintiff on the evidence presented. The mere existence of a scintilla of evidence in support of the plaintiff's position will be insufficient; there must be evidence on which the jury could reasonably find for the plaintiff. The judge's inquiry, therefore, unavoidably asks whether reasonable jurors could find by a preponderance of the evidence that the plaintiff is entitled to a verdict. . . .

Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc., 477 U.S. 242, 252 (1986).

The Supreme Court of Utah has held "that property owners are not insurers of the safety of those who come upon their property, even though they are business invitees."

Martin v. Safeway Stores, Inc., 565 P.2d 1139, 1140 (Utah 1977). Merely proving that an accident occurred on the store's premises is insufficient to show that the store owner is liable for the accident. *Silcox v. Skaggs Alpha Beta, Inc.*, 814 P.2d 623 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

In *Jex v. JRA, Inc.*, the Utah Court of Appeals indicated that slip and fall cases fall under two different categories: those involving an unsafe condition of a temporary nature and those involving an unsafe condition of a permanent nature. *Jex*, 166 P.3d 655, 658 (Utah Ct. App. 2007). The Utah Court of Appeals held:

Under the temporary condition theory, a plaintiff can only recover if the defendant has notice of the dangerous condition. Specifically, the following two conditions must be satisfied: (1) “that [the defendant] had knowledge of the condition, that is, either actual knowledge [] or constructive knowledge because the condition had existed long enough that he should have discovered it; and [(2)] that after such knowledge, sufficient time elapsed that in the exercise of reasonable care he should have remedied it.”

Id. (quoting *Allen v. Federated Dairy Farms*, 538 P.2d 175, 176 (Utah 1975)).

In the present matter, Price has conceded that Smith’s did not create the water spill and therefore the present matter falls under the temporary condition theory framework. (Brief of Appellant, p. 10, Addendum, Exhibit “B.”) Price has also conceded that Smith’s did not have actual notice of the water spill. (*Id.*, Addendum, Exhibit “B.”) As a result, Price must show that Smith’s had constructive notice of the temporary hazard prior to Price’s incident in order to maintain her negligence claim. However, Price has failed to meet her burden of proof and therefore her claim fails as correctly decided by the trial court.

There is no evidence that Smith’s had constructive notice and should have known about the water spill prior to the incident because no one knows how long the water spill had been on the floor prior to Price’s fall. When asked how long the water had been on

the floor prior to her fall, Price testified that she had “no idea” and that it would be speculation on her part. (Deposition of Judy Price, p. 35, R. 218.) When Price’s granddaughter, Ms. Chance, was asked if she knew how long the spill had been on the floor prior to Price’s fall, she responded “no.” (Deposition of Judy Chance, p. 33, R. 201.) Similarly, Smith’s does not know how long the water had been on the floor prior to Price’s fall. (Deposition of Chuck Brown, p. 46, R. 425; p. 45, R. 426.)

It is extremely difficult to guess how long the water spill was on the floor prior to the incident because no one knows the origin of the spill. When Price was asked how the water came to be on the floor, she responded: “I didn’t know there was water on the floor, so how could I know how it got there?” (Deposition of Judy Price, p. 36, R. 217.) Ms. Chance also testified that she did not know how the water came to be on the floor. (Deposition of Judy Chance, p. 33, R. 201.) When Smith’s store director, Mr. Brown, initially saw the water spill following the accident, he too could not figure out the origin of the water spill though he later guessed that the Market Source demonstrator, Stephen Tyler, spilled the water. (Deposition of Chuck Brown, p. 32, 37, 44-45, R. 207-208, 426-427.) However, Mr. Brown’s guess that the Market Source demonstrator spilled the water was only speculation and has been eliminated as a possibility by Mr. Tyler, who testified unequivocally at his deposition that he did not even have water nor did he spill water while at the store on the day of the incident. (Deposition of Stephen Tyler, pp. 21-22, 28, 42, R. 171, 176, 178-179.)

Of course, even if Mr. Brown's after-the-fact speculation was considered adequate evidence to identify the origin of the spill, which it is not, Price still has no evidence as to how long the water spill was on the floor prior to the incident. Price must add yet another level of speculation on top of the previous conjecture. Even then, the result does not support Price's argument for constructive notice. Price again relies on the guesses of Mr. Brown who testified that if Mr. Tyler left at 5:00 p.m. and the spill was caused at that time, then at the longest, the spill would have been present on the floor for 10 minutes. (Deposition of Chuck Brown, p. 45, R. 426.) Mr. Brown did not see, hear, or in any way observe the spilling of the water. All of this speculation is strenuously denied by Mr. Tyler who adamantly testified that he did not spill any water on the day of the incident. (Deposition of Stephen Tyler, pp. 21-22, 28, 42, R. 171, 176, 178-179.)

Based on Mr. Brown's speculation, however, the 10 minute estimate is the longest period of time the water could have been present on the floor. The water in fact could have been present just minutes or even seconds before Plaintiff's incident based on the guesses made by Mr. Brown. Mr. Brown's guesses as to the origin of the water spill or the time the water was on the floor prior to Plaintiff's incident is unsupported conjecture that is inadequate in satisfying the constructive notice requirement within the temporary condition theory framework.

In her brief, Price cites to *Ohlson v. Safeway Stores, Inc.*, 568 P.2d 753 (Utah 1977) and argues that a plaintiff can still meet her burden of proof in instances where only

tenuous facts exist as to the length of time the temporary hazard has been present. In *Ohlson*, a store patron was injured from slipping and falling on dry spaghetti on the floor of a grocery store. Unlike the present matter, however, the *Ohlson* case enjoyed abundant evidence supporting a finding that the temporary hazard had been in existence for a considerable period of time prior to the incident. In distinguishing the case from others in which there was a lack of evidence that the temporary hazard had been present for any appreciable time, the Utah Supreme Court stressed:

Here, the testimony was that the spaghetti was dirty, crushed, broken into small pieces, and that it extended from aisle ten around the end of that aisle into the main aisle for five or six feet toward the cash register at the front of the store.

The only inspection of the area made by defendant's employees in the 45 minutes prior to plaintiff's injury was a casual glance down the aisle made by defendant's manager as he came on duty, even though defendant knew that the time at which the injury occurred was the busiest time for the store; that more customers were present during that time; that debris was more likely to find its way to the floor during this time; and that the debris caused the kind of injury suffered by the plaintiff here. The main aisle in which some of the spaghetti was strewn was visible from the positions of employees at the cash register.

Ohlson, 568 P.2d at 754-755.

In the present matter, Price may not cite to any of the factors identified by the Utah Supreme Court in the *Ohlson* decision to bolster her case. In *Ohlson*, the actual nature of the spaghetti at the time of the incident indicated that it had been present on the floor for a considerable period of time. The spaghetti was dirty, crushed, broken into small pieces, and spread over a substantial area of the store floor. In contrast, the water spill in the

present matter provides absolutely no hint into how long it was on the floor prior to Price's fall. There is no evidence that the water spill was dirty or had been traveled through which might imply its presence on the floor for some meaningful period of time.

In *Ohlson*, the Utah Supreme Court stressed that only a single casual glance down the aisle in which the spaghetti lay had been made in the 45 minutes before the incident. However, in the present matter, Smith's had undertaken 12 formal floor inspections from 4:24 p.m. to 5:57 p.m. on the day of the incident, which took place at 5:00 p.m. or shortly thereafter. The formal floor inspections took place at 4:24 p.m., 4:26 p.m., 4:29 p.m., 4:33 p.m., 4:34 p.m., 4:43 p.m., 4:50 p.m., 4:58 p.m., 5:12 p.m., 5:38 p.m., 5:55 p.m., and 5:57 p.m. (Floor Inspection Report, R. 187-193.) During none of these inspections was the water spill discovered. Furthermore, Mr. Tyler testified that he never saw anyone spill anything on the floor or observe any spill on the floor from noon until 5:00 p.m. when he left the store on the day of the incident. (Deposition of Stephen Tyler, pp. 28, R. 176.)

Though Price does not address opinions of her supermarket safety expert, Kent Steele, in her argument, she does refer to his opinions in the Statement of Facts section as well as the Summary of Argument section of her brief. At the time Smith's motion for summary judgment was heard, Smith's also had an outstanding motion in limine in which it requested that the trial court preclude Mr. Steele from testifying at trial. In its decision,

the trial court stated that its decision to grant Smith's summary judgment rendered moot Smith's motion in limine. (Decision, R. 538.)

In her brief, Price states that Mr. Steele opined that "demonstration areas are typical areas to anticipate spillage" and that "Smith's conduct fell below the standard of care because Smith's failed to verify that Pyggy [Mr. Tyler] left the demonstration area clean and spill free when Pyggy checked out." (Brief of Appellant, p. 5, Addendum, Exhibit "B.") However, Mr. Steele's opinions that Price cites in her brief do not change the fact that Price is unable to identify free from speculation the amount of time the water was on the floor. As a result, Plaintiff is unable to satisfy the constructive notice requirement of the temporary condition theory framework established by Utah appellate courts. As the trial court stated in its decision:

The lack of evidence regarding the length of time the puddle had been on the floor when Plaintiff slipped is analogous to that of *Jex*. The fact that Mr. Steele believes that Smith's should have inspected Mr. Tyler's area upon his departure does not overcome the fatal flaw that Plaintiff has shown no evidence of the length of time the puddle was on the floor. In the absence of any such evidence, this court is unable to impute constructive notice to Smith's regarding the presence of the water puddle on the floor.

(Decision, R. 533-534.)

In the present matter, there is no evidence in support of constructive notice. There is no evidence as to who created the spill or how long the water spill was on the store floor prior to Plaintiff's incident. There is only evidence that Smith's conducted 12 formal floor inspections from 4:24 p.m. to 5:57 p.m. and never discovered the water spill,

as well as Mr. Tyler's testimony that during his stay from noon to 5:00 p.m. he never saw any spill on the store floor. The Utah Supreme Court has stressed:

The mere presence of a slippery spot on a floor does not in and of itself establish negligence. This condition may arise in any place of business for any number of reasons. Proof that a slippery or wet substance was on a floor, does not, without more, establish that defendant knew or should have known of the condition.

Silcox v. Skaggs Alpha Beta, Inc., 814 P.2d 623, 624 (Utah Ct. App. 1991).

Having failed to produce evidence that Smith's should have known about the spill, Price is unable to meet the first prong in *Jex*, which is necessary in order for Smith's to be found negligent under the temporary condition theory framework. Therefore, the trial court was correct in granting Smith's motion for summary judgment.

II.

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY GRANTED APPELLEE SUMMARY JUDGMENT BECAUSE APPELLANT'S CLAIMS ARE BASED ON SPECULATION AND CONJECTURE.

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